Epilepsy in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region





Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

Epilepsy in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region

Bridging the gap





INTERNATIONAL LEAGUE AGAINST EPILEPSY

Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

WHO Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

Epilepsy in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region: bridging the gap / World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

p.

1. Epilepsy – diagnosis – etiology – epidemiology 2. Epilepsy – prevention and control – Eastern Mediterranean I. Title II Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

(ISBN: 978-92-9021-696-4) (NLM Classification: WL 385) (ISBN: 978-92-9021-697-1) (online)

© World Health Organization 2010

All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Distribution and Sales, World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, PO Box 7608, Nasr City, Cairo 11371, Egypt (tel: +202 2670 2535, fax: +202 2670 2492; email: PAM@emro.who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce, in part or in whole, or to translate publications of WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, at the above address: email: WAP@emro.who.int .

Design and layout by Inís Communication

Printed by WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, Cairo

Contents

Foreword				
Preface				
Acknowledgements.				
1. Eastern Mediterranean Region				
2. Epilepsy: the disorder				
2.1 Introduction				
2.2 Historical background				
2.3 Epidemiology, diagnosis and etiology				
2.4 Psychosocial consequences and stigmatization of epilepsy				
3. Challenges				
4. Existing initiatives				
4.1 Global Campaign Against Epilepsy				
4.2 Regional efforts				
5. Future directions				
5.1 Information and data				
5.2 Advocacy for political commitment				
5.3 Prevention and control				
5.4 Provision of appropriate care				
5.5 Research				
5.6 Monitoring and evaluation				
6. Conclusion				
Annex 1. Eastern Mediterranean Declaration on Epilepsy				
References				

Foreword

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 50 million people of all ages around the world are affected by epilepsy, with more than 85% living in the developing world. An estimated 4.7 million people with epilepsy live in the WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region.

The social, physical and psychological implications of epilepsy are immense. Stigma and discrimination dominate social attitudes towards epilepsy. The sociocultural dimensions of epilepsy are important determinants of its clinical course, and are often among the major barriers to appropriate treatment.

Despite the seemingly gloomy picture, we should not lose hope. Most of the causes of symptomatic epilepsy are preventable and treatable. Antiepileptic medicines can provide effective treatment that is both available and relatively inexpensive. In up to 70% of people, epilepsy can be fully controlled by antiepileptic medicines.

In developing countries, however, up to 90% of people with epilepsy may not receive the treatment they need. The resultant wide treatment gap remains a cause of tremendous individual, family, social and economic burden. Against this backdrop, the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy was launched in 1997 as a joint initiative of WHO, the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE) with an overarching aim of bringing epilepsy "out of the shadows".

Under the auspices of the Campaign the Eastern Mediterranean Region launched its Declaration on Epilepsy in 2003. The declaration called on the governments of the Member States of the Eastern Mediterranean Region, national and regional, public and private organizations, all health care providers, and the general public to participate in taking strong and decisive action to meet the objectives of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy.

The availability of essential information will hopefully lead to greater awareness among policy-makers. I hope that this report will succeed in encouraging more Member States and partners to be involved in the efforts to reduce stigma, affirm dignity and bridge the current treatment gap for people with epilepsy.

Hussein A. Gezairy MD FRCS WHO Regional Director for the Eastern Mediterranean

5

Preface

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders and knows no geographical, racial or social boundaries. It can begin at any age, but is most frequently diagnosed in children, adolescents and the elderly.

Epilepsy provides the finest example of a neurological disorder for which cost-effective treatment is available. Up to 70% of people with this condition could live productive and fulfilling lives, free from seizures, if appropriately diagnosed and treated. Yet epilepsy continues to take a heavy toll on those who suffer from the condition. The cost of epilepsy is by no means restricted to the individuals suffering from the condition but also extends to their families. The costs are not only the direct costs of providing care and services but also indirect costs in terms of lost opportunities and productivity. Furthermore the imperceptible costs of stigma and discrimination add immeasurably to the physical, psychological, social and economic consequences of individuals and their families. One of the common consequences of discrimination and the associated stigma, is that patients and their families do not seek treatment even when it is available, accessible and affordable.

Since its launch in 1997 by ILAE, IBE and WHO, the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy has been gathering momentum. In its first phase it led to many awarenessraising activities, such as the regional conferences on epilepsy as a public health priority. During its second phase (2001) the Campaign moved from raising awareness to implementing demonstration projects in order to support ministries/departments of health in identifying needs and promoting education, training, treatment, service delivery, research and prevention to reduce the treatment gap at the national level.

It is evident that the collaboration between ILAE, IBE and WHO has given the Campaign the opportunity to build a framework for concerted action at global, regional and national levels to raise awareness for epilepsy and reduce the treatment gap.

This is one of a series of similar reports published in the WHO regions. The report is aimed at both lay and professional readers. It contains information on epilepsy epidemiology, needs and resources, thus providing an overview of the epilepsy situation in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. The results of a questionnaire on country resources for epilepsy are also included. It outlines the initiatives taken by ILAE, IBE, WHO and other partners through the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy to address the problems, it defines the current challenges and offers appropriate recommendations.

We hope that the information in the report will provide a spur for improving services at country level in the Region and that the report will serve as a potent advocacy tool for taking epilepsy "out of the shadows" in the Eastern Mediterranean Region.

7

Haifa Madi, Director, Health Protection and Promotion, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

Hanneke M. de Boer, Coordinator, Global Campaign Against Epilepsy

Khalid Saeed, Regional Adviser, Mental Health and Substance Abuse, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean

Acknowledgements

This report was made possible through a collaborative effort involving WHO headquarters, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, countries of the Region, members of IBE/ILAE regional committees and national members and chapters, and the Secretariat of the ILAE/IBE/WHO Global Campaign Against Epilepsy.

Data organization and writing of the initial report was undertaken by Hoda Yahya Tomoum, Ain Shams University, Egypt. Work on the report was supervised and coordinated by Hanneke M. de Boer, Stichting Epilepsie Instellingen Nederland (SEIN), the Netherlands; Haifa Madi, Mohammad Ali and Khalid Saeed, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; and Tarun Dua, WHO headquarters.

Benedetto Saraceno, WHO headquarters, provided the vision and guidance for the entire project, while continuous support was provided by Shekhar Saxena, WHO headquarters; Giuliano Avanzini, Jerome Engel Jr, Solomon L. Moshé and Edward H. Reynolds, ILAE; and Mike Glynn and Philip Lee, IBE. R. Srinivasa Murthy, M. Taghi Yasamy and Hala Sakr provided additional technical input for the Regional Office.

A group of leading experts in the field of epilepsy reviewed the report and provided comments, including Raidah Al-Baradie, Saudi Arabia; and the following members of ILAE and IBE: Carlos Acevedo, Taha Kamel Alloush, Hasan Aziz, Charles Begley, Ahmad Beydoun, Thanos Covanis, Sunita Dergalust, Mike Glynn, Hamed Ahmed El Khayat, Marco Medina, Natela Okujava, Christophe Pachlatko, Edward Reynolds, Ley Sander and W.Z. Wang.

The contributions of all those mentioned above and the inputs of many other unnamed people have been vital to bringing epilepsy "out of the shadows" in the Eastern Mediterranean Region.

1. Eastern Mediterranean Region

The World Health Organization (WHO) Eastern Mediterranean Region comprises 22 countries with varied population and demographic profiles (Figure 1). The population of the Region's countries ranges from less than 1 million in Djibouti to more than 160 million in Pakistan. A high proportion of the population is young, with approximately 31% aged 15 years or younger. The percentage of the population aged over 60 years ranges from 1.1% in Qatar and 1.6% in Kuwait to 9.6% in Lebanon (1).

Gross domestic product per capita ranges from less than US\$ 352 in Afghanistan to over US\$ 84 500 in Qatar (1). Annual population growth rates in the Region in 2007 ranged from 1.2% in Tunisia to 9.3% in Kuwait (1). The total fertility rate is less than 2.5 children per woman in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Kuwait, Lebanon, Tunisia and the United Arab Emirates and 6.7 in Somalia. Life expectancy at birth ranges from 46 years in Afghanistan to 77.8 years in Qatar. Under-5 child mortality rates range from 191 per 1000 live births in Afghanistan to less than 10 per 1000 live births in Qatar and United Arab Emirates. Maternal mortality is still high in some countries of the Region.

Total expenditure on health as a percentage of gross domestic product ranges from 2% in Pakistan to 8.8% in Lebanon.

The Region has a long way to go to attain the Millennium Development Goals. According to the World Bank, 30% of the population of the Middle East and North Africa still lives on less than US\$ 2 per day (2). With respect to gender equity and empowerment of women, disparity between the sexes is still wide in some countries. Even though maternal mortality is decreasing, intensified efforts will be needed in some countries of the Region to attain the target of Millennium Development Goal 5 to reduce by three quarters, between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality ratio. Good progress is being made in the Region towards achieving universal primary education, and moderate progress is being made in reducing child mortality.

Environmental issues, particularly rapid urbanization and the scarcity of water resources, are a source of concern for many countries. Although data on the magnitude of environmental hazards are lacking, there is evidence that rural water and sanitation coverage is less than 50% in several low-income and some middle-income countries (1).

Additional contributors to ill-health in the Region are disasters and complex emergencies. During the past decade, at least eight countries have been in some sort of conflict or emergency condition. Such situations result in destruction of infrastructure and increasing poverty, and contribute to a relatively high prevalence of mental health conditions.



Figure 1. WHO Eastern Mediterranean Region

2. Epilepsy: the disorder

2.1 Introduction

Epilepsy, one of the most common chronic neurological disorders, has no age, race, social class or geographical boundaries. Ten per cent (10%) of the world's population who live a normal lifespan can expect to have at least one epileptic seizure (3). At least 50 million people in the world have epilepsy and approximately 85% of these live in developing countries (4–7).

The global burden of epilepsy (including epilepsy and status epilepticus) is determined by estimating the number of productive life years lost due to disability or premature death resulting from the disease (known as disability-adjusted life years, or DALYs). Mathers, Lopez and Murray (8) estimate the DALYs lost annually due to epilepsy as 6 223 000 worldwide. A notable observation is the reportedly low burden in the Middle East and North Africa (248 000), despite the fact that parts of these regions are relatively underdeveloped.

Epilepsy is among the three most frequently encountered neurological disorders in primary health care settings in 20 of the 22 countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region (9). There are an estimated 4.7 million people suffering from epilepsy in nine countries of the Region (5) (Box 1).

Although epilepsy is a largely treatable brain disorder and relatively cheap medication is available, between 60% and 98% of individuals with this disorder in developing countries receive no treatment. People with epilepsy present with health problems, while also having to cope with a wide range of psychosocial difficulties that affect almost every aspect of their lives. Many of these difficulties are a consequence of public misconceptions, prejudice and stigma (6,11).

2.2 Historical background

Currently the earliest known detailed description of various seizure types is contained within the stone tablets of the *Sakikku* (meaning "all diseases"), a Babylonian text compiled around 1000 BC which is held in the British Museum, London. A Sumerian term referring to descriptions of seizures has been translated as the "falling sickness". The Babylonians thought that each seizure type represented possession by a particular demon or departed spirit

BOX 1. Availability of country resources for neurological disorders and epilepsy care

The WHO publication *Atlas: country resources for neurological disorders 2004 (9)* presents a comprehensive collection and compilation of information on country resources for neurological disorders across 109 countries, covering over 90% of the world's population. The information was primarily gathered from key experts in the area of neurology in each country identified by the World Federation of Neurology as their official delegates and, in some cases, by WHO regional offices. It is one of the most comprehensive compilations of neurological resources ever attempted The results obtained from the study confirm that the available resources for neurological service in most countries of the world are insufficient compared with the global need for neurological care. The Atlas presents the facts and figures and highlights the large inequalities across regions and countries, with low-income countries having extremely meagre resources.

The WHO publication *Atlas: epilepsy care in the world 2005 (10)* was developed within the framework of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy and maps the resources available for epilepsy care across 160 countries, covering over 97% of the world's population. This atlas is one of the most comprehensive compilations of available resources for epilepsy ever attempted, providing an illustrative presentation of information on the current status of epilepsy services and care in the world. The data confirm what professionals in the field of epilepsy have known for a long time: that epilepsy care is grossly inadequate compared with the needs in most countries.



and hence treatment focused on spiritually-based methods (12).

The two major Middle Eastern practitioners who dealt with epilepsy in medieval times were Ibn Sina (980-1037) and Al-Razi (circa 865-925), and they considered epilepsy a medical illness. Their writings had a profound influence in Europe, and as late as the 1700s this material was still fundamental for medical students in universities around the world. Ibn Sina, the "Prince of Doctors", was scientific and rational in his treatment of epilepsy and left an abundance of pertinent details. He was the first person to coin the term "epilepsy", using a passive Latin verb. In his Canon of Medicine, Ibn Sina speaks of epilepsy in exhaustive detail, describes its various forms and symptoms and its apparent causes, and offers a long list of pharmacological products for its treatment. His prescriptions are a repertory of herbal and pharmacological recipes and of dietary rules based on the principle that it is necessary to create personalized treatments, adapted to each individual, consisting of medicinal and dietetic therapy and incorporating hygienic norms (13,14).

The view that has dominated thinking about epilepsy in many parts of the world, including the Eastern Mediterranean Region, until quite recently is that epilepsy is caused by supernatural forces. This view remains, even now, deeply rooted in society with negative social consequences. It was not until the 17th and 18th centuries that the Hippocratic concept of epilepsy as a brain disorder began to take root. During these two centuries epilepsy was one of several key areas of debate in the gradual identification and separation of "nervous disorders" from "mental disorders", which led to the beginnings of modern neurology in the 19th century (*15–17*).

2.3 Epidemiology, diagnosis and etiology

Epidemiology of epilepsy

Epidemiological data provide understanding about the incidence, prevalence and potential risk factors for epilepsy, and can be used to assist in planning health services for people with epilepsy. However, many epidemiological studies of epilepsy published worldwide lack standardized definitions, diagnostic accuracy and seizure classification, which impedes meaningful comparison. Analysis of risk factors is also a source of confusion, and basic epidemiological measures are frequently misquoted. Several measures have been used to describe the frequency of epilepsy, but often these indices are inappropriately used or are used without definition. All these measures require a numerator that should reflect complete case ascertainment, as well as a clearly defined denominator.

A few studies reporting on the prevalence of epilepsy have been conducted in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. One of the major problems faced when analysing these studies is that most of the reports have not followed standardized definitions and thus their results are difficult to compare. This leads to confusion as in many countries higher reported rates reflect more sensitive case-finding methods, while in others they may signify higher prevalence.

Studies (with population size more than 1000) conducted in the Region (*18*–22) have shown that the prevalence of epilepsy ranges from as low as 4.04 per 1000 population (*18*) to those as high as 12 or more per 1000 population (*20,21*) (Table 1). Furthermore, higher rates are reported in young age groups (*17,22*) and in rural populations (*20,22*). In a study in rural Pakistan, the prevalence of epilepsy reached 14.8 per 1000 population (*20*), and even higher rates were reported in children in low socioeconomic classes (23.1 per 1000 population) (*23*). In their study, Aziz et al. (*24*) reported that more than 70% of the adult population with epilepsy had the onset of their disease in childhood.

The nine countries in the Eastern Mediterranean Region that responded to the survey for the atlas on epilepsy care in the world, covering over 70% of the population in the Region, reported a total of 3 483 000 people with epilepsy (*10*). In the responding countries, the median number of people with epilepsy per 1000 population was 8.16 (interquartile range 5.75–9.98).

Benamer and Grosset carried out a systematic review of epidemiological aspects of epilepsy in Arab countries (25). Medline and Embase were searched, and six papers were identified: one incidence report from Qatar and five prevalence reports (two from



Sudan and one each from Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Saudi Arabia and Tunisia). An incidence of 174 per 100 000 persons in 2001 was reported in a hospitalbased study from Qatar. Prevalence ranged between 0.9 per 1000 in Sudan and 6.5 per 1000 in Saudi Arabia, with a median of 2.3 per 1000. An estimated 724 500 people with epilepsy live in the Arab world. All studies report higher prevalence in males (26–29), which was statistically significant in the Saudi study. Epidemiological data from Arab States are lacking, especially from populous countries such as Algeria, Egypt and Syrian Arab Republic. Well-designed studies are needed to determine more accurately the burden of epilepsy in the Arab world (25).

Local variations in the prevalence of risk factors and genetic factors that may predispose individuals to develop epilepsy have undoubtedly contributed to the marked heterogeneity in epilepsy prevalence and incidence throughout the world. Data on epilepsy are more consistent for industrialized countries. the prevalence ranging between 5.6 and 7 per 1000 in studies in Europe and the United States of America (30-31). Studies in developing countries reveal much higher rates. Most of the studies published from Central and South America show prevalence rates between 16 and 57 per 1000 (32-35). The highest prevalence rates in Africa were reported in the United Republic of Tanzania at 20 per 1000 (36), Nigeria at 37 per 1000 (37) and Liberia at 26-40 per 1000 (38). Some areas of rural Uganda have recorded rates as high as 57 per 1000 (39).

It should once more be noted that accurate data are difficult to obtain. Some non-convulsive seizures are often missed and because of the delay in seeking medical advice, especially in rural areas, the data often underestimate the problem. Furthermore, cultural factors influence the results. If epilepsy carries social stigma, people with the condition will not admit it to researchers. It is therefore not surprising that several researchers have suggested that seizures – and even the diagnosis of epilepsy – might be concealed. In a study in the United Kingdom, 53% of people with epilepsy would choose concealment as a strategy (40).

Information on the incidence of epilepsy is widely available for developed countries, but the same information for developing countries is less complete. Unfortunately, there are no published data regarding incidence rates in countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region except that reported from Qatar. Worldwide reported figures range from 30 to 100 per 100 000 population in Europe (30,41), to rates ranging from 109 to 190 per 100 000 in Ecuador (27-42); rates as high as 232 per 100 000 per year have been reported for some zones in west Uganda (43).

Definitions, diagnosis and case ascertainment

Epilepsy is a brain disorder characterized by recurrent epileptic seizures, unprovoked by an immediate identified cause. Multiple seizures occurring in a 24-hour period are considered a single event. A person with prevalent active epilepsy is defined as a

Country	Population size	Criteria	Crude prevalence (per 1000 pop.)	Authors
Tunisia (1993)	341 900	Active epilepsy	4.04	Attia-Romdhane, Mrabet and Ben Hamida (18)
Saudi Arabia (2001)	23 700	Active epilepsy	6.54	Al Rajeh et al. (19)
Pakistan (1994)	24 130	Recurrent non-febrile active seizures	9.99	Aziz, Akhtar and Hasan (23)
Islamic Republic of Iran (2004)	35 014	Unspecified	12.00	Noorbala et al. (21)
Sudan (2004)	50-100 000	Unspecified	10.6–21.2	Perenchio et al. (22)

Table 1. Summary of studies of epilepsy prevalence by country



person with epilepsy who had at least one epileptic seizure in the previous five years, regardless of antiepileptic medicine treatment (44-45). Diagnosis of epilepsy is essentially clinical, based on a clear history of epileptic seizures. Diagnosis should be confirmed by a trained health professional using available medical history, seizure description and neurological examination. Standardized study methods should be used to obtain information about the above diagnostic elements and standardized criteria should be used for their interpretation. If available, electroencephalography (EEG) records and other diagnostic tools should be used to assist in classifying seizures, epilepsies and epilepsy syndromes more accurately. However, lack of these instruments should not preclude the diagnosis of epilepsy, especially as they are not always sensitive or specific tools (46,47).

The currently used Classification of Epilepsies and Epileptic Syndromes was accepted in 1989 (48) and a revision was proposed in 2001 (49). Syndromes are characterized by several features, including seizure type, specific EEG characteristics, age at onset and presence of an underlying cause (or etiology).

The causes of unprovoked seizures or epilepsy are summarized in Box 2 (45,49).

Causes of epilepsy

Data collection on the epidemiology, etiology and natural history of epilepsy has increased understanding of this devastating disease. Further investigation and identification of risk factors in developing country populations will be important in the development of efficacious and comprehensive programmes for the prevention and treatment of epilepsy.

Studies from different countries in the Region show that the cause of epilepsy was not identified in the majority of cases (50,51), especially in studies in the paediatric population. Similarly, in studies carried out in developed countries, even with the availability of investigative tools, more than 60%–70% of all children with epilepsy were diagnosed as having idiopathic or cryptogenic epilepsy (52–54).

Studies in the Eastern Mediterranean Region have shown that epilepsy in children was attributed to

BOX 2. Causes of unprovoked seizures or epilepsy

The causes or etiologies of unprovoked seizures or epilepsy are divided into two main categories, and a third category where causes are uncertain.

Remote symptomatic. Remote symptomatic (or, simply, symptomatic) seizures are unprovoked or spontaneous; that is, there is no acute precipitating event or insult that causes the brain to seize. However, symptomatic epilepsies are considered the consequence of a known or suspected cerebral disease. Some well-recognized and established remote symptomatic causes include brain malformations, prior stroke, prior intracranial infection and prior head trauma.

Idiopathic. This term is reserved for certain partial or generalized epileptic syndromes with particular clinical characteristics and specific EEG findings. Idiopathic epilepsies are presumed to have a genetic basis. As more is learnt about the genetic basis of the epilepsies, this concept is undergoing significant revision.

Cryptogenic (probably symptomatic). This term literally means that the cause is hidden. This group includes patients who do not conform to the criteria for the symptomatic or idiopathic categories. They are believed to be symptomatic but no etiology has been identified. The ongoing work worldwide in molecular genetics and into the understanding of how the brain becomes epileptic – from the ionic basis of membrane excitability to the role of deep mid-brain structures in generalized seizures – may one day provide the information needed to classify causes more precisely within this heterogeneous grouping.

perinatal medical problems in most cases (24,55,56), and the same is true even in reports on adults with epilepsy. Studies have suggested that perinatal encephalopathy may be responsible for 13% to 23% of the identified causes of epilepsy (19,50,57). The causes of perinatal encephalopathy include maternal cardiovascular disease, placental and umbilical cord disorders, prolonged labour, and airway obstruction at birth. In many developing countries, most deliveries in rural areas are performed by traditional birth attendants. Complications with delivery are common, and the incidence of preterm deliveries is at least twice that in developed countries (58). Mothers in developing countries are frequently malnourished, anaemic, and exposed to a variety of infections that could affect the baby in utero or at delivery and increase the risk for epilepsy (59).

Other reported causes of epilepsy include head trauma (4% to 11%), especially in the adult population (as high as 20% of causes in patients over 20 years old) (19,50). Traumatic brain injury has been recognized as a cause of epilepsy since antiquity, and it remains one of the most common and important causes of acquired epilepsy today. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated a clear relationship between the severity of injury and the likelihood of developing epilepsy, with the risk approaching 50% in cases of traumatic brain injury associated with direct injury to brain parenchyma. The importance of traumatic brain injury and epilepsy deserves special attention in the Region due to the increase in severe head trauma associated with violence in the context of complex emergencies (60).

Central nervous system infections were reported as a cause of epilepsy in 2% to 28% of cases (19,50,51). In a study carried out in Turkey, intractable epilepsy, mental retardation, cerebral palsy and visual disturbance were found to be the most common and severe conditions affecting sufferers of neonatal hypoglycaemia (61). Another recent study documents the etiologies of seizures in young children in an urban reference hospital in a developing country. Hypocalcaemia has an important place in the etiology of afebrile seizures among patients in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, in contrast to many developed countries. Nutritional status should therefore be kept in mind when evaluating the etiologies of seizures in young children in developing countries (62).

The risk of epilepsy is increased threefold for individuals who have a first-degree relative with the condition (63). In addition, a number of diseases that follow Mendelian patterns of inheritance may have seizures as one of their manifestations or as their only manifestation. In many countries of the Region, consanguinity is relatively common – first cousin unions are even the most common form of cousin marriage. Such practices are likely to increase the risk of seizure disorders in any offspring. In studies in countries of the Region, authors have noted a significant association between consanguinity of the parents and epilepsy (24,50,55,56,64–66).

It is important to note that a recent study in Jordan showed that the etiologies of epilepsy include hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy, cortical malformations, neurocutaneous syndromes, metabolic disorders, leukodystrophy and craniosynostosis. The risk factors for epilepsy included parental consanguinity (P = 0.0003), a family history of global developmental delay (P = 0.0002), a family history of epilepsy (P = 0.010) and a positive perinatal history (P = 0.011) (67). Other studies in the Eastern Mediterranean Region support these findings (68–70).

The nine countries of the Region that responded to the atlas survey reported the following factors to be among the five most frequently encountered causes of epilepsy: trauma (reported by all the responding countries); central nervous system infections (excluding parasitic infestations) (reported by 85%); and idiopathic epilepsies (64%), cerebrovascular disorders (64%) and tumours (57%). Perinatal problems (including neonatal infection) were reported by 43% of the countries as one of the five major causes of epilepsy (Figure 2) (10).

Differences reported among studies regarding the etiology of epilepsy may not be true differences as diagnosis of the cause of epilepsy requires the availability of different investigative tools. Results may not accurately reflect the situation, especially in rural areas and in low-income countries with poor accessibility, even to basic investigations.





Figure 2. Most frequently reported etiology of epilepsy

Diagnostic services

There is an increasingly sophisticated range of investigations that can be used in patients with epilepsy. The principal objectives of investigating patients with new and chronic epilepsy referred for evaluation are to:

- clarify the diagnosis of epilepsy or non-epileptic attacks;
- determine the nature of the seizure types, epilepsies and epilepsy syndrome;
- in the case of partial seizures, identify the localization;
- identify the etiology of epilepsy;
- identify concomitant problems, both neurological and psychological;
- monitor the progression and consequences of the epilepsy and its treatment.

Investigations of epilepsy may be grouped into those that are:

 structural, for example magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or X-ray computerized axial tomography (CAT);

- functional, for example electroencephalography (EEG), positron emission tomography (PET) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT);
- biochemical or histological, for example blood tests, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) examination and muscle biopsy.

It is important to ensure that the results are considered in the clinical context and with regard to each other and not in isolation (71). Application of diagnostic technology is a careful choice that goes beyond even clinical management. A public health approach is required in planning for procurement, and must take into consideration factors pertaining to cost-effectiveness, as well as availability of trained personnel and appropriate protocols (72).

According to the atlas on epilepsy care in the world (10), CAT is available to health professionals in all the nine responding countries of the Eastern Mediterranean Region, while MRI is available in 86.7% of them. MRI was not available in only one of the responding countries (a low-income country). While EEG was available to health professionals

dealing with patients with epilepsy in 93.3% of the responding countries, long-term video/EEG monitoring was available in 57.1%. Facilities for therapeutic medicine monitoring were available in 85.7% of the responding countries. In about one third of these countries such facilities were reported to be available to people with epilepsy free of charge or without any special condition.

An important limitation of the atlas data is that even though a diagnostic facility may be reported as available in a country, it may be present in only very limited numbers, insufficient to provide adequate services, especially in rural areas. The fact that only a percentage of the service is available free of charge, through insurance or public health systems, limits its utilization to the population in need.

It should be noted that the diagnosis of epilepsy is not always straightforward and a misdiagnosis can be easily made, even by specialists. Studies carried out in various settings have reported misdiagnosis rates of between 4.6% and 30% (73,74). Misdiagnosis can lead to serious consequences, including driving and employment restrictions and inappropriate treatment. Most studies focus on ways of reducing misdiagnosis. However, in some cases, diagnosis may be difficult for a number of reasons, including overlapping clinical features with other conditions, inadequate available history and limitations of investigations.

Epilepsy management

Provision of care

Quality of life of people with health problems is strongly linked to the quality of their care. In the treatment of a chronic condition such as epilepsy, the clinician is not so much concerned with "cure" as with preventing adverse consequences of the condition and optimizing the person's functioning. When the outcome is narrowly conceptualized to be optimal seizure control, care is solely based on assessment of seizures and treatment to reduce seizures. When the outcome is conceptualized to include also the patient's quality of life, it will lead to the provision of not only the very important optimal seizure control but also comprehensive care of the patient and family.

Treatment gap

Estimation of the treatment gap, an important outcome measure, is the first step toward reducing it; therefore prevalence studies of epilepsy should include questions to determine the treatment gap (Box 3). The treatment gap is very high in most developing countries. In a multinational study in 2004 involving seven developing countries (Brazil, China, Egypt, Ghana, India, Mexico and Thailand), the aggregated estimate for current treatment coverage was 60% for epilepsy (75). However, other studies have reported a treatment gap as high as 98% (in rural Pakistan and Ethiopia) (23,76).

To achieve optimal seizure control in a population, it is essential to know, or at least to suspect, the causes of the treatment gap. Some potential factors could be cultural beliefs, level of health care development, economy, supply of antiepileptic medicine and degree of prioritization.

Cultural values affect people's health-seeking strategies. Such beliefs may mean that people with epilepsy seek treatment from traditional or faith healers or that continued compliance with antiepileptic medicines is difficult to achieve (80–82). These decisions may be rational within these people's cultures, but they may also lead to epilepsy being untreated or not treated successfully.

The problem of distance from health care facilities is linked to the know-how available at the community health care level. It has been shown that a reasonable level of seizure treatment can be achieved by primary health care workers (77).

The majority of developing countries also have an extremely limited choice of antiepileptic medicines, with the newer medicines generally being unavailable. The reasons for this are more based on income (both personal and governmental) and inequalities. It would seem that it is non-availability of antiepileptic medicines, rather than shortcomings in the diagnosis of epilepsy, that is the primary cause of the treatment gap in developing countries, as well as being the probable main obstacle in bridging this gap (77).



BOX 3. Definition and estimation of the treatment gap

The Commission on the Developing World of the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) convened a workshop in Marrakesh, Morocco, 1–2 May 1999, to discuss the issue of the treatment gap and potential ways of addressing the situation.

The following definitions were accepted (77):

Seizure treatment gap. The difference between the number of people with active epilepsy and the number whose seizures are being appropriately treated in a given population at a given point of time, expressed as a percentage. This definition includes diagnostic and therapeutic deficits.

Appropriate treatment. Diagnosis and treatment of underlying causes; treatment of recurrent seizures according to international standards. (It should be noted that were the epilepsy treatment gap to be discussed, then appropriate diagnosis and treatment would also have to include the influence of having epilepsy on mental and social well-being.)

Estimation of seizure treatment gap. An estimate of the number of people treated for epilepsy (based on dividing the amount of antiepileptic medicines sold in a year by one defined daily dose of each type of medicine) subtracted from an estimate that at least 0.5% of any population has active epilepsy. This difference is then divided by 1% of the estimated number of people with epilepsy (*78,79*).

Pharmacotherapy

Antiepileptic medicines are the primary form of treatment for seizures and epilepsy. They can suppress the occurrence of seizures and can also abort ongoing seizures. For each patient, the decision to start treatment must take into account the likelihood and severity of medicine side-effects, the risk of further seizures and the consequences if such seizures should occur and what treatment can realistically do to reduce those risks to a significant level. All these factors must be weighed together and the balance for each patient determined (*83*).

Approximately 70% of patients can achieve complete freedom from seizures with appropriate treatment. Most of the rest will experience a significant reduction in seizure frequency and sometimes seizure severity. The resulting impact on psychosocial, educational and other quality-of-life measures is substantial (84).

Studies in different countries in the Eastern Mediterranean Region show that the first-line antiepileptic medicines (phenobarbital, phenytoin, carbamazepine and valproic acid) (10) are still the most frequently prescribed. Use of the new generation of antiepileptic medicines is increasing but is still low compared to use of the first-line medicines. High cost and inadequate experience limit their usage (85–88). Similar findings reported from other countries show that first-line antiepileptic medicines remain in most common use throughout the world (77,78).

Variations occur in the first-line antiepileptic medicines that are included in a country's list of essential medicines. Phenobarbital is included in all the countries' lists in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Low doses of phenobarbital are very effective in the treatment of epilepsy. However, there is an urgent need for programmes involving an increased number of physicians and trained primary care workers in rural areas and, at the national level, for the inclusion of epilepsy treatment in the activities of health care facilities. Even in low resource countries, an epilepsy control programme providing free treatment is advisable (89). Valproic acid and carbamazepine are included in 87.5%, and phenytoin in 75%, of the essential lists of medicines of Eastern Mediterranean countries (10).



Figure 3. Median cost of daily defined adult dose of antiepileptic medicines in the Eastern Mediterranean Region (2000)

As previously mentioned, newer antiepileptic medicines are generally unavailable in most developing countries. In addition to personal and governmental financial constraints, a further hindrance to medicine supply and use can be the natural profit-maximizing behaviour of pharmaceutical companies and distributors, which may discourage production and distribution of newer medicines that may not yet be commercially viable (77).

It is possible that a medicine may be included in a country's essential medicines list but might not be available on a regular basis and in the appropriate dosage in health care services. In some countries, government policy or legislation may be in place for prescription of antiepileptic medicines, but they may still be available over the counter (90).

Figure 3 gives information on the cost of antiepileptic medicines in the Eastern Mediterranean Region; Figure 4 shows the number of DALYs gained per year in the Middle East and North Africa through use of selected antiepileptic medicines.



Figure 4. Number of DALYs gained per US\$ 1 million per year in the Middle East and North Africa through use of selected antiepileptic medicines

Epilepsy surgery

Despite the old and new generations of antiepileptic medicines, about 20–40% people with epilepsy have seizures that are medically intractable. One quarter to half of these patients are potential candidates for specific surgical therapy (5). In developing countries, social and economic deprivation introduce an additional factor. Surgery in selected people with clinically intractable epilepsy provides the means of avoiding more expensive, lifelong pharmacotherapy (92–96).

In their survey regarding epilepsy surgery in developing countries, based on the proceedings of the 19th–23rd International Epilepsy Congresses and Medline reports from 1991 to November 1999, Wieser and Silfvenius (97) reported that at least 26 (18.3%) of 142 developing countries (including Egypt and the Islamic Republic of Iran) perform epilepsy surgery. The surgical outcomes achieved were similar to those in the developed world, but at a fraction of the cost. To internationalize epilepsy surgery, they recommend that assessment



methodology on the outcome, cost and savings are needed, as well as general support from developed countries.

In some areas in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, vagus nerve stimulation is used to treat patients with epilepsy, as it is a well-established device to treat selected patients with medically refractory seizures (94,98).

It is of note to mention that successful results, especially for patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy and hippocampal sclerosis (MTLE-HS) and lesion-related epilepsies, can be obtained at centres with limited resources if the diagnoses and evaluation procedures are performed carefully (99). In *Atlas: epilepsy care in the world 2005* (10), epilepsy surgery was reported available in only half of the responding countries of the Region and in none of the low-income countries. However, there is little existing information regarding the range of surgical interventions available within the countries, or the type, quality and estimated numbers of such facilities and their distribution within each country.

Team approach to the management of epilepsy

As epilepsy has an impact on multiple medical and non-medical aspects of a patient's life, a multidisciplinary approach is needed. Epilepsy usually starts in patients in their formative years, and thus can distort the development of a favourable self-image. Low self-esteem will equip the patient poorly for the vocational and social challenges of life. Active participation in patient care by a multidisciplinary team maximizes the effectiveness of each professional and minimizes the avoidable consequences of this chronic disorder (*100*).

Primary health care. The use of primary health care workers and key community informants to identify and follow patients under treatment with either phenobarbital or phenytoin appears to be the most effective intervention for reducing the treatment gap for epilepsy in developing countries. In addition to administering and monitoring medicine treatments, trained primary health care workers can help to identify individuals with epilepsy in their communities and encourage them to seek medical attention. They can play an equally important role as

health educators by providing accurate information about prevention, causes and available treatments of epilepsy. Greater understanding of epilepsy has been shown to improve attitudes towards treatment and reduce stigma (7,101-104).

Services provided by primary health care centres in different parts of the world often suffer from lack of public policies and linkages between medical personnel. Primary health care workers are often not sufficiently trained to care for the neurological disorders in their population, though such disorders are relatively common. Geographical, financial and cultural barriers substantially limit physicians' referral practices (105-107). In a study on the quality of care of children with chronic diseases in Egypt, investigators noted that compliance can only be achieved if health care providers are involved in the education of the patient and the family, which further stresses the need for training of primary health care workers, who are in a unique position to ensure at least a minimum quality of care for patients with chronic illness (108). Integration of mental health into primary health care, including the components of epilepsy screening and management, is being carried out in several countries, including, for example, Islamic Republic of Iran and Pakistan (109).

Specialist care. Specialist medical professionals, when available, are important members of the team providing comprehensive care for people with epilepsy, especially at tertiary level. They are also essential for training and providing support and supervision to primary health care providers in epilepsy care. Specialists may be more alert to the long-term side-effects of antiepileptic medicines, possible medicine interactions, the impact of epilepsy on the patient's lifestyle and complications of epilepsy.

Psychiatric complications of epilepsy are neither rare nor benign. Interictal disturbances of memory, cognition and personality may interfere with relationships and professional performance, thus being potentially more disabling than the ictal events. Psychiatric symptoms, especially anxiety and depression, are frequent comorbidities in people with epilepsy, with a prevalence of up to 50%. Preexisting vulnerability factors, neurobiological factors,



iatrogenic influences (antiepileptic medicines, epilepsy surgery) and psychosocial factors are all likely to play a role, but with considerable individual differences (110–114). A study in Egypt found that as many as one quarter of patients with epilepsy showed personality disorders that were considered by many to be the result of evil spirits (115).

The neurologist, psychiatrist and clinical psychologist perform an essential role in the assessment and management of patients with epilepsy, including helping them cope with stress and relationship problems (92,100). According to the atlas on epilepsy care in the world (10), there are no available epilepsy specialists in nearly one third of the respondent countries of the Region. Although paediatric neurological disorders are common in daily practice, a study in one country of the Region showed that most physicians (64%) did not receive a structured neurological rotation during their training and were not confident in diagnosing and treating affected children. Furthermore, they had no access to paediatric neurologists or epilepsy specialists for referral purposes (116-118). It should be noted, however, that strengthening specialized services without a strong link with primary health care cannot be recommended.

Social rehabilitation, special education, sheltered work and special equipment should also be available to patients with epilepsy, either free of charge or without special conditions through insurance coverage. Facilities for social rehabilitation are available in 42.9% of the countries of the Region that responded to the atlas survey, free of charge in one third of them. Facilities for special education are available in 35.7% of those countries. In 40%, those services are available to people with epilepsy free of charge or without any special conditions (*10*).

2.4 Psychosocial consequences and stigmatization of epilepsy

Research confirms that epilepsy is associated with increased levels of psychological morbidity, including anxiety and depression, low self-esteem, and reduced sense of mastery (*119*, *120*). Psychosocial variables may also explain the social withdrawal and isolation that is often reported among people with

epilepsy and may be the consequence of anxiety about the negative reactions of others if a seizure occurs in public. Such fear can lead to self-denial of opportunities and can be reflected in lower rates of marriage and fertility (121).

In studies of the psychosocial consequences of epilepsy, one major recurring theme is that epilepsy is a stigmatizing condition. It is important to differentiate between perceived and enacted stigma. Perceived stigma refers to an individual's perception of being stigmatized, whereas enacted stigma refers to the actual event of being stigmatized. The evidence to date is that, in both developed and developing countries, epilepsy is perceived as a stigmatizing condition. The "burden of the diagnosis" may also have significant consequences in the way individuals appraise or reappraise themselves and the world; consequently some individuals will see themselves as defined by their diagnosis (121).

In a study conducted to assess stigmatization and psychosocial problems of people with epilepsy in Pakistan, it was concluded that although patients did not appear to be highly stigmatized, their education and grades were affected by the disorder. They had difficulty performing the activities of daily life and found it hard to make decisions about whether to marry or to have children (20). A study in 2007 suggested that the gap in community knowledge about epilepsy may explain the prevalence of negative attitudes (120). A study performed in 10 countries, including countries of the Region, found that only 11% felt highly stigmatized by their illness, but more than one third of the respondents reported that their condition negatively affected their overall health, future plans and ambitions, and their feelings about themselves (122). Similarly, in a retrospective analysis of 55 people with chronic epilepsy admitted for psychiatric treatment in Kuwait, adverse effects on marriage, education and occupation were reported to be common. People with epilepsy were more prone to have social difficulties, and their marital status and fertility were far from satisfactory (123). In Tikrit, Iraq, the overall underemployment for patients with epilepsy was 33%, which was higher in those with uncontrolled epilepsy (124). In Oman, a study investigating the attitude of physicians towards people with epilepsy



demonstrated that negative views still persist in matters related to cognitive and behavioural domains (110). In a study in Tunisia, the healthrelated quality of life of people with epilepsy was related to seizure frequency, time since last seizure and the side-effects of antiepileptic medicines. Seizure-free adults had a quality of life comparable to those of the control group (125).

A recent study in the Islamic Republic of Iran on attitudes towards epilepsy among five major ethnic groups – Persian, Azeri, Kurd, Lur and Arab – found that while the level of awareness and understanding of epilepsy among respondents was generally good, and their attitude towards the employment, childbearing and social integration of people with epilepsy was positive, the response to the prospect of their children marrying someone with epilepsy was highly negative, as it is in other parts of the world (126). A study in Turkey found that knowledge about epilepsy is associated with less perceived stigmatization and social isolation, as well as fewer depressive symptoms and misperceptions (127).

Another study in Turkey, and studies in Kuwait, including one among university students, found a vague knowledge of the causes of epilepsy. Misconceptions about, and negative attitudes toward epilepsy were unexpectedly high among university students (*128–130*).

Poor community knowledge and awareness, cultural beliefs and stigma were considered the major problems facing about two thirds of health professionals and people with epilepsy in the atlas survey (10).

21

3. Challenges

- Epilepsy is a major public health concern, with an estimated 4.7 million people in the Eastern Mediterranean Region having the disorder (5). It can have serious medical, psychological, social and economic consequences for people with epilepsy and their families (10).
- Many of the risk factors for epilepsy described are preventable or modifiable. There is a very high incidence of marriages within the family in the countries of the Region, which is a risk factor for epilepsy (19,55–57).
- There are few published studies addressing the magnitude of the problem of epilepsy in the Region, and little information about the availability of diagnostic services and their national and regional distribution (18–22).
- Although an effective treatment exists for most people with epilepsy, service utilization is limited and the majority of these people are inadequately and inappropriately treated because of limited health resources, lack of prioritization, gaps in national health policies and distance from health care facilities (77).

- Community perceptions and cultural beliefs have been identified as barriers to proper provision of epilepsy care. In many countries of the Region, traditional healers do not consider epilepsy as a medical illness but attribute it to devils or spirits. There are also many challenges related to legislation or regulations, such as driving restrictions and limitations to employment (20,122–124).
- In most countries, out-of-pocket payment is the major source of financing for epilepsy care, especially in the absence of social insurance or government-funded health care. In many countries, few people actually receive disability benefits for epilepsy even when they are available, because of lack of public information about such benefits and the procedure for claiming them, which is sometimes very complicated (77).

4. Existing initiatives

4.1 Global Campaign Against Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a global problem affecting all ages, races, social classes and countries. Epilepsy imposes enormous physical, psychological, social and economic burdens on individuals and families, compounded by misunderstanding, fear and stigma. In response to these challenges WHO and its regional offices joined forces with two leading international epilepsy organizations, the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE), for a campaign of concerted action to address the common but neglected global problem of epilepsy. ILAE member organizations consist of professionals concerned with medical and scientific aspects of epilepsy, while those of IBE are concerned with social aspects and the quality of life of people with epilepsy. The Campaign's mission statement is to improve the acceptability, diagnosis and treatment, services and prevention of epilepsy worldwide. The Campaign's strategy has two parallel tracks:

- raising general awareness and understanding of epilepsy, for instance by organizing regional conferences on public health;
- supporting departments of health in identifying needs and promoting education, training, treatment, services, research and prevention nationally, by initiating demonstration projects.

The Campaign's objectives are to:

- reduce the burden of epilepsy by decreasing the treatment gap and promoting the inclusion of epilepsy care in national health care plans;
- improve understanding of epilepsy;
- promote primary and secondary prevention of epilepsy;
- improve medical, social and psychological care for people with epilepsy;
- reduce the limitations encountered by people with epilepsy and their families.

The Campaign's ultimate objective is to ensure that governments and health care providers place epilepsy on the health and development agenda in order to formulate and implement cost-effective responses to epilepsy. The indicators of its success will be the proportion of targeted countries that have implemented reforms in epilepsy care and the number of countries that have increased their budget for epilepsy care.

The strategic approach of the Campaign is dissemination of information on the magnitude, burden, diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy as well as information on available resources; support to governments and health care providers in formulating and implementing comprehensive services by offering successful models of epilepsy care; support to countries in fighting stigma and discrimination; and support for research capacity-building in developing countries.

The Campaign was launched at WHO headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland, in June 1997 and in Dublin, Ireland, in July of the same year during the 22nd International Epilepsy Congress. During the first three years, the Campaign concentrated mainly on increasing awareness, creating acceptance and improving education, including within ILAE, IBE and WHO. The most important achievement during that period was the acceptance of the Cabinet Paper on the Global Campaign in December 1999, which raised its status to one of the highest priorities of WHO.

Regional conferences on the public health aspects of epilepsy have been organized in the African Region, the Region of the Americas, the South-East Asia Region and the Western Pacific Region jointly, the Eastern Mediterranean Region and the European Region. The aims of these conferences were to:

- adopt regional declarations on epilepsy, calling on governments and health care providers to take strong, decisive action to meet the objectives of the Campaign;
- promote the creation of regional white papers on epilepsy as detailed public health statements with appropriate recommendations for political action.

More than 1200 representatives from IBE, ILAE and WHO, other United Nations agencies, and nongovernmental organizations, governments, universities and health care providers from over 130 countries, representing millions of people with epilepsy, participated in these conferences, where the concept of regional declarations aimed at identifying problems and proposing solutions was elaborated. The second phase of the Campaign, aimed at

improving health care services for treatment, prevention and social acceptance of epilepsy worldwide was launched in Geneva on 12 February 2001 in the presence of Dr Brundtland (then Director-General of WHO), advisers from all six WHO regions and representatives of 13 WHO Member States, 24 national member organizations of IBE and ILAE, four nongovernmental organizations for neuroscience or neurology and 17 representatives of the private sector.

An important strategy for achieving the aims of the Campaign is the use of demonstration projects. These have been designed to identify people with epilepsy and offer them appropriate treatment. The specific objectives are to:

- develop models for the promotion of epilepsy control worldwide
- reduce the treatment gap and social and physical burden
- educate health personnel
- dispel stigma
- eradicate preventable causes of epilepsy
- integrate epilepsy care into national health systems.

Other Campaign activities include data collection on country resources for epilepsy, development of regional reports on epilepsy, organization of sessions during international congresses and other meetings, drawing up evidence-based guidelines, projects on stigma and a project on epilepsy and legislation.

4.2 Regional efforts

Integration of mental health into primary health care, which has been one of the main strategies of the WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, has always included epilepsy, as reflected in many strategic documents (109). This decision was made because of the similarities that epilepsy has with mental disorders with regard to stigma and neglect, chronicity and need for longterm follow-up, in addition to epilepsy's high comorbidity with mental retardation and its shared pathology as a brain disease. In almost all the Region's countries, mental health units in ministries of health are also planning and implementing for epilepsy. In the Islamic Republic of Iran the health information system, which includes mental disorders, also encompasses epilepsy.

In March 2003, under the aegis of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy, the Intercountry Meeting on Epilepsy as a Public Health Concern was held in Cairo, Egypt, bringing together professionals from the health and social science sectors and academia, policy-makers and experts in the area of epilepsy from across the Region. During the meeting the Eastern Mediterranean Declaration on Epilepsy was formulated, calling upon governments, various organizations, health care providers and the general public to participate in "taking strong and decisive action to meet the objectives of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy" (see Annex 1). They were specifically urged to:

- address the needs with respect to epilepsy in terms of prevention, access to trained personnel, modern diagnostic equipment, antiepileptic medication, surgical treatment where necessary, and social integration;
- include antiepileptic medicines in the list of essential medicines in all countries, and make them constantly available to avoid the serious consequences of treatment interruptions;
- educate and train health care and other relevant professionals and volunteers at all levels of health care about epilepsy;
- educate those affected by epilepsy, their families and the general public about epilepsy as a universal neurological condition, to eradicate misconceptions, and empower those affected to seek appropriate treatment and improve their quality of life;
- eliminate discrimination in all spheres of life, particularly concerning school and employment;
- encourage the public and private sectors and nongovernmental organizations to get involved in the local activities of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy;
- encourage basic and applied research on epilepsy as an integral part of epilepsy services at all levels;
- proclaim a National Epilepsy Day;
- encourage regional and international cooperation.



5. Future directions

Integration of epilepsy prevention and care within primary health care is the most appropriate strategy. In countries where a mental health programme is functional within primary health care, epilepsy should be an important component. In addition, support should be extended to the recommendations of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy launched by WHO, ILAE and IBE.

Specifically, governments in the Region are urged to address the following points.

5.1 Information and data

Implementation of nationwide projects for reliable data collection on epilepsy, its magnitude and other related health problems is encouraged. This should be done in collaboration with the leading epilepsy organizations to help set unified criteria for definitions (12).

5.2 Advocacy for political commitment

Epilepsy has to compete for resources with many other conditions and illnesses. Such competition is even harsher where there are low health budgets. A commitment to resources for epilepsy treatment must be gained from governments and international health organizations. Political patronage must ensure that epilepsy remains on the agenda and that essential medicine supplies are assured.

5.3 Prevention and control

Preventive measures could significantly reduce the incidence and prevalence of epilepsy in developing countries in several ways, including enhancement of prenatal and perinatal care (for example by improving mothers' nutritional status and detection of high-risk pregnancies), reduction of the causes of brain injury (for example by promotion and enforcement of traffic regulations and speed limits and ensuring safety regulations at work), and providing specific protection (for example immunization against communicable diseases) (*12*).

A decrease in poor maternal and fetal outcomes, both in epileptic and non-epileptic pregnant women, is required. Women with epilepsy are not at increased risk for obstetric and neonatal complications, provided there is a combined team management approach by a neurologist and an obstetrician (131).

5.4 Provision of appropriate care

Although an effective treatment often exists for more than two thirds of people with epilepsy, the majority of them are inadequately and inappropriately treated. An important cause is limited health resources.

Health care providers

Primary health workers are the most appropriate choice for providing information and education to patients, caregivers and the community as a whole about the disorder, the medication and its side-effects, and the implications and social issues involved (101–104).

Regular courses for training of involved personnel and encouraging better liaison and referral network between primary and secondary health care services are required to ensure the best care for patients (92).

Emphasis is needed to give nurses appropriate training and facilities for providing care to people with epilepsy. In countries with no formal training facilities for neurological nursing, general nurses can be trained to provide specific nursing care (77).

Specialist training in epileptology is needed on multiple levels to reach all those concerned in epilepsy management (109,116–118).

Service delivery

Services should be available at different levels of the health care system from primary health care to secondary and tertiary levels. Specialized services should be made available at the tertiary level, where referrals from more peripheral levels will be received.

Existence of strong referral and back-referral systems at different levels of health care is a prerequisite for efficient and sustainable management of epilepsy (10).

Efforts need to be made to introduce some form of public financing into the national health infrastructure to cover epilepsy services. The availability of at least first-line antiepileptic medicines should be specifically ensured to all people in need, whether free of charge or through an insurance policy (77).

Efforts should be made to advocate for better provision of benefits for people with functional disability who suffer from epilepsy, especially in resource-poor countries where such benefits are most needed (10).

Advocacy and rights promotion

There is an urgent need to establish more patient groups, especially in low-income countries, to improve consumer participation in health care and promote self-management.

Cultural issues

Despite the limitations of the available dataset for this survey (10), it is clear that the number of social workers engaged in the field of epilepsy is grossly inadequate. Efforts need to be made to improve the situation. Awareness-raising campaigns about epilepsy with the aim of reducing the associated stigma are imperative (132).

To reduce the stigma effect in patients with epilepsy, this issue should not only be addressed primarily in specialized journals such as *Epilepsia*, *Epilepsy and Behavior*, *Seizure*, and *Social Science and Medicine*, but also in journals targeting readers of different specialties and interests (133).

5.5 Research

There is a compelling need to carry out multisite epidemiological studies using standardized definitions and case ascertainment methods (134). Studies are needed to identify the causes of epilepsy and the risk factors in different population groups and in different regions. Definitions need to be standardized to be able to compare different studies. The observed large rural–urban differences call for more efforts to identify such risk factors as infection, stigma, ignorance, inadequate obstetric care and lack of health facilities. Identifying correct etiologies will help to set priorities for prevention and early diagnosis of epilepsy, especially in vulnerable populations (*10*).

It should be mentioned, however, that in resourcepoor countries implementation of epilepsy care is a higher priority than epidemiological research, and data derived from countries with similar conditions may help in estimating the magnitude of the problem (77).

5.6 Monitoring and evaluation

Programmes on the prevention and management of epilepsy need to be regularly monitored and evaluated. Indicators may include the availability of medicines, number of people in the population covered by services, proportion of primary health care centres in which epilepsy is integrated and proportion of people with epilepsy whose disorder has been controlled (77).



6. Conclusion

Epilepsy is a major public health concern and at least 4.7 million people in the Eastern Mediterranean Region suffer from it. The disorder can have serious medical, psychological, social and economic consequences for people with epilepsy and their families. The impact is even heavier for children and adolescents.

With modern advances in medicine, epilepsy has become a treatable condition, and most people with epilepsy can live productively as a result of relatively inexpensive, cost-effective treatment. Many of the risk factors for epilepsy described are preventable or modifiable. Yet epilepsy does not receive adequate attention commensurate with its magnitude, toll and preventability in existing national health plans in many countries.

A number of challenges face the efforts to address the issue of epilepsy in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. The efforts to finalize this report made apparent the inadequacy of regional data on the magnitude of the problem, the availability and distribution of diagnostic services, and the proportion of services available and affordable for those who need them.

Information on epilepsy, trained human resources, diagnostic aids and antiepileptic treatment may not be available to, or affordable by, many people with epilepsy, due to a myriad of causes – geographical, financial, cultural or social. Hence, many people in parts of the Region, more so in rural areas, may have no access to proper health care and treatment or may not be able to utilize the available services. The resulting treatment gap needs to be addressed at all levels, taking into account the wider sociocultural landscape and its interactive relationship with the disorder.

There is a dire need for capacity-building and working towards making universal access to uninterrupted treatment a reality. Education of people with epilepsy, their families and the communities in which they live, about epilepsy as a universal brain condition cannot be overlooked. Such efforts must be made in order to eliminate prevalent misconceptions, and empower those affected to seek appropriate treatment and improve their quality of life.

In the attempt to relieve the heavy implications of epilepsy, available opportunities need to be utilized at local, regional and global levels. The Global Campaign Against Epilepsy is but one platform for collective efforts to achieve better, more humane and respectful services and improved lives for people who have epilepsy and who suffer subsequent stigma and discrimination. Through concrete actions, the Campaign can facilitate the transformation of hopes into realities where people with epilepsy are no longer marginalized, but are given an equal chance to become active members in an inclusive society.

Annex 1. Eastern Mediterranean Declaration on Epilepsy



EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN DECLARATION ON EPILEPSY

Under the aegis of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy of the World Health Organization (WHO), International League against Epilepsy (ILAE) and International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE), a meeting "Epilepsy as A Public Health Concern in the Eastern Mediterranean Region" was held in Cairo, Egypt, on 3 and 4 March 2003. Professionals from Health and Social Sciences sectors and representatives from universities coming from the member states of the Eastern Mediterranean Region unanimously agreed to the following Declaration:

CONSIDERING THAT:

- epilepsy is the most common serious chronic brain disorder, estimated to affect at least 50
 million people in the world of which at least 4 million live in the Eastern Mediterranean Region,
- contrary to many misconceptions, epilepsy is a brain disorder with natural causes and requiring medical treatment,
- it is often not realised that epilepsy is treatable, and that most people with epilepsy can lead productive lives as a result of relatively inexpensive, cost-effective treatment,
- in parts of the Eastern Mediterranean Region many people, especially in rural areas, have no access to appropriate healthcare provisions and treatment,
- general information about epilepsy, trained expertise, diagnostic facilities, antiepileptic drugs and surgery are not available for or affordable by many people with epilepsy, for geographic, financial, cultural or communication reasons,
- epilepsy has serious physical, psychological and social consequences for the afflicted and their families,
- the impact of epilepsy is most severe in children and adolescents,
- epilepsy does not receive adequate attention in existing national health plans in many countries,

We call on the governments of the member states of the Eastern Mediterranean Region, national and regional, public and private organisations, all health care providers, and the general public to join us in taking strong and decisive action to meet the objectives of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy of the WHO/ILAE/IBE "Epilepsy: Out of the Shadows".

Specifically we urge action to:

- address the needs with respect to epilepsy in terms of prevention, access to trained personnel, modern diagnostic equipment, antiepileptic medication, surgical treatment where necessary, and social integration,
- include antiepileptic drugs in the list of essential drugs in all countries, and make them constantly available to avoid the serious consequences of treatment interruptions,
- educate and train health care and other relevant professionals and volunteers on all levels of health care about epilepsy,
- educate those affected by epilepsy, their families and the general public about epilepsy as a universal neurological condition, to eradicate misconceptions, and empower the affected to seek appropriate treatment and improve their quality of life,
- eliminate discrimination in all spheres of life, particularly concerning school and employment,
- encourage the public and private sectors and NGO's to get involved in the local activities of the Global Campaign against Epilepsy,
- encourage basic and applied research on epilepsy as an integral part of epilepsy services on all levels,
- proclaim a National Epilepsy Day,
- encourage regional and international co-operation.

CAIRO, March 04, 2003



References

- The work of WHO in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Annual report of the Regional Director, 1 January – 31 December 2008. Cairo, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, 2007.
- World Bank. Income by region 1981–2005 (http:// siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTAR2009/ Resources/6223977-1253132981998/6440371-1253210222754/Income_by_Region.pdf, accessed 8 February 2010).
- 3. Engel J Jr. Epilepsy in the world today: the medical point of view. *Epilepsia*, 2002, 43(Suppl. 6):12–13.
- 4. Brundtland GH. Welcome: the WHO view and launch of the second phase of the Global Campaign Against Epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2002, 43(Suppl. 6):5–6.
- The global burden of disease: 2004 update. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2004 (http://www.who. int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/2004_report_ update/en/index.html, accessed 22 January 2010).
- Reynolds EH. The ILAE/IBE/WHO epilepsy global campaign history. International League Against Epilepsy and International Bureau for Epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2002, 43(Suppl. 6):9–11.
- Shorvon SD, Farmer PJ. Epilepsy in developing countries: a review of epidemiological, sociocultural and treatment aspects. *Epilepsia*, 1998, 29:S36–S54.
- 8. Mathers CD, Lopez AD, Murray CJL. The burden of disease and mortality by condition: data, methods, and results for 2001. In: Lopez AD et al., eds. *Global burden of disease and risk factors*. New York, Oxford University Press, 2006.
- 9. Atlas: country resources for neurological disorders, 2004. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2004.
- 10. *Atlas: epilepsy care in the world, 2005.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2005.
- 11. De Boer HM. "Out of the shadows": a global campaign against epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2002, 43(Suppl. 6):7–8.
- 12. Wilson JV, Reynolds EH. Translation and analysis of a cuneiform text forming part of a Babylonian treatise on epilepsy. *Medical History*, 1990, 34(2):185–198.
- 13. Lennox WG. *Epilepsy and related disorders*. Boston, Little, Brown and Company, 1960.
- 14. Vanzan A, Paladin F. Epilepsy and Persian culture: an overview. *Epilepsia*, 1992, 33(6):1057–1064.
- 15. Jackson JH. On convulsive seizures. *Lancet*, 1890, 1:685–688; 735–738; 785–788.
- 16. Todd RB. On the pathology and treatment of convulsive diseases. *London Medical Gazette*, 1849, 8:661–671; 724–729; 766–772; 815–822; 837–846.

- 17. Willis T. Pathology of the brain and nervous stock: on convulsive diseases. In: Pordage S, ed. The remaining medical works of that famous and renowned physician Dr Thomas Willis of Christ Church in Oxford, and Sidley Professor of Natural Philosophy in that famous University. London, Dring, Harper, Leigh and Martyn, 1684:1–89.
- Attia-Romdhane N, Mrabet A, Ben Hamida M. Prevalence of epilepsy in Kelibia, Tunisia. *Epilepsia*, 1993, 34(6):1028–1032.
- 19. Al Rajeh S et al. The prevalence of epilepsy and other seizure disorders in an Arab population: a community-based study. *Seizure*, 2001, 10(6):410–414.
- 20. Aziz H, Akhtar SW, Hasan KZ. Epilepsy in Pakistan: stigma and psychosocial problems – a populationbased epidemiologic study. *Epilepsia*, 1997, 38(10):1069–1073.
- 21. Noorbala AA et al. Mental health survey of the adult population in Iran. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 2004, 184:70–73.
- 22. Perenchio MT et al. Epilepsy in a remote area of southern Sudan. *Tropical Doctor*, 2004, 34(4):229–230.
- 23. Aziz H et al. Epilepsy in Pakistan: a population-based epidemiologic study. *Epilepsia*, 1994, 35(5):950–958.
- 24. Aziz H, Hasan M, Hasan KZ. Prevalence of epilepsy in children: a population survey report. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 1991, 41(6):134–136.
- 25. Benamer HT, Grosset DG. A systematic review of the epidemiology of epilepsy in Arab countries. *Epilepsia*, 2009, 50(10):2301–2304.
- 26. Senanayake N, Roman GC. Epidemiology of epilepsy in developing countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 1993, 71(2):247–258.
- 27. Placencia M et al. A large-scale study of epilepsy in Ecuador: methodological aspects. *Neuroepidemiology*, 1992, 11:74–84.
- 28. Sander JWAS, Shorvon SD. Incidence and prevalence studies in epilepsy and their methodological problems: a review. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 1987, 50:829–839.
- 29. Schoenberg BS. Clinical neuroepidemiology in developing countries: neurology for few neurologists. *Neuroepidemiology*, 1982, 1:137–142.
- 30. Forsgren L et al. The epidemiology of epilepsy in Europe: a systematic review. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 2005, 12(4):245–253.
- 31. Gaitatzis A et al. The epidemiology of the comorbidity of epilepsy in the general population. *Epilepsia*, 2004, 45(12):1613–1622.

- 32. Gomez JC, Arciniegas E, Torres J. Prevalence of epilepsy in Bogota, Colombia. *Neurology*, 1978, 28(1):90–94.
- 33. Gracia F et al. Epidemiology of epilepsy in Guaymi Indians from Bocase del Toro Province, Republic of Panama. *Epilepsia*, 1990, 31(6):718–723.
- 34. Basch EM et al. Prevalence of epilepsy in a migrant population near Quito, Ecuador. *Neuroepidemiology*, 1997, 16:94–98.
- 35. Nicoletti A et al. Prevalence of epilepsy in rural Bolivia: a door-to-door survey. *Neurology*, 1999, 53(9):2064–2069.
- 36. Jilek WG, Jilek-Aall LM. The problem of epilepsy in a rural Tanzanian tribe. *African Journal of Medical Sciences*, 1970, 1:305–307.
- 37. Osuntokun BO et al. Neurological disorders in Nigerian Africans: a community-based study. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 1987, 75(10):13–21.
- 38. Goudsmit J, Van der Waals FW, Gajdusek DC. Epilepsy in the Gbawein and Wroughbarh clan of Grand Bassa country, Liberia: the endemic occurrence of "seeee" in the native population. *Neuroepidemiology*, 1983, 2:24–34.
- 39. Kaiser C et al. Clinical and electro-clinical classification of epileptic seizure in west Uganda. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique*, 2000, 93(4):255–259.
- 40. Scambler G, Hopkins A. Being epileptic: coming to terms with stigma. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 1986, 8:26–43.
- 41. Olafsson E et al. Incidence of unprovoked seizures and epilepsy in Iceland and assessment of the epilepsy syndrome classification: a prospective study. *Lancet Neurology*, 2005, 4(10):627–634.
- 42. Cruz I, Bossano F, Cruz ME. Factores de riesgo para la epilepsia en una comunidad andina del Ecuador. In: Cruz ME, ed. *Control comunitario de la epilepsia*. Quito, Academia Ecuatoriana de Neurociencias, 1991.
- 43. Kaiser C et al. High incidence of epilepsy related to onchocerciasis in west Uganda. *Epilepsy Research*, 1998, 30(3):247–251.
- 44. Commission on Epidemiology and Prognosis, International League Against Epilepsy. Guidelines for epidemiologic studies on epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 1993, 34:592–596.
- 45. Commission on Epidemiology and Prognosis, International League Against Epilepsy. The epidemiology of epilepsies: future directions. *Epilepsia*, 1997, 38:614–618.

- 46. Cruz ME, Barberis P, Schoenberg BS. Epidemiology of epilepsy. In: Poeck K, Freund HJ, Ganshirt H, eds. *Neurology*. Berlin and Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag, 1986:229–239.
- 47. Osuntokun BO et al. Research protocol for measuring the prevalence of neurologic disorders in developing countries. *Neuroepidemiology*, 1982, 1:143–153.
- 48. Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy. Proposal for revised Classification of Epilepsies and Epileptic Syndromes. *Epilepsia*, 1989, 30:389–399.
- 49. Engel J. A proposed diagnostic scheme for people with epileptic seizures and with epilepsy: report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification and Terminology. *Epilepsia*, 2001, 42:796–803.
- 50. Al Rajeh S et al. Epilepsy and other convulsive disorders in Saudi Arabia: a prospective study of 1,000 consecutive cases. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 1990, 82(5):341–345.
- 51. El-Khayat HA et al. Physical and hormonal profile of male sexual development in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2003, 44(3):447–452.
- 52. Cowan LD et al. Prevalence of the epilepsies in children and adolescents. *Epilepsia*, 1989, 30(1):94–106.
- 53. Hauser WA, Annegers JF, Kurland LT. Incidence of epilepsy and unprovoked seizures in Rochester, Minnesota: 1935–1984. *Epilepsia*, 1993, 34(3):453–468.
- 54. Penniello MJ et al. Childhood epilepsy in Basse-Normandie, France: clinical epidemiology, handicaps and schooling. *Epilepsia*, 1995, 36(Suppl. 3):S17–S18.
- 55. Al-Sulaiman AA, Ismail HM. Clinical pattern of newly diagnosed seizures in Saudi Arabia: a prospective study of 263 children. *Child's Nervous System*, 1999, 15(9):468–471.
- 56. Daoud AS et al. Risk factors for childhood epilepsy: a case-control study from Irbid, Jordan. *Seizure*, 2003, 12(3):171–174.
- 57. Cheema FA et al. Significant variables associated with epilepsy. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan*, 2003, 13(7):388–390.
- 58. Villar J et al. Nutritional and antimicrobial interventions to prevent preterm birth: an overview of randomized controlled trials. *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey*, 1998, 53(9):575–585.
- 59. Leary PM et al. Childhood secondary (symptomatic) epilepsy, seizure control, and intellectual handicap in a nontropical region of South Africa. *Epilepsia*, 1999, 40(8):1110–1113.

- 60. Lowenstein DH. Epilepsy after head injury: an overview. *Epilepsia*, 2009, 50(Suppl. 2):4–9.
- 61. Per H et al. Neurologic sequelae of neonatal hypoglycemia in Kayseri, Turkey. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 2008, 23(12):1406–1412.
- 62. Cetinkaya F, Sennaroglu E, Comu S. Etiologies of seizures in young children admitted to an inner city hospital in a developing country. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, 2008, 24(11):761–763.
- 63. Senga P, Mayanda HF, Nzingoula S. Profile of seizures in infants and young children in Brazzaville (Congo). *Annales de Pédiatrie*, 1985, 32:477–480.
- 64. Asadi-Pooya AA, Hojabri K. Risk factors for childhood epilepsy: a case-control study. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2005, 6(2):203–206.
- 65. Choueiri RN et al. Classification of epilepsy syndromes and role of genetic factors. *Pediatric Neurology*, 2001, 24(1):37–34.
- 66. Bener A, Hussain R. Consanguineous unions and child health in the State of Qatar. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 2006, 20(5):372–378.
- 67. Masri et al. Etiologies, outcomes, and risk factors for epilepsy in infants: a case-control study. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, 2008, 110(4):352–356.
- 68. Güngör S et al. Malformations of cortical development and epilepsy: evaluation of 101 cases (part II). *Turkish Journal of Pediatrics*, 2007, 49(2):131–140.
- 69. Cherian MP. Beta-mannosidae deficiency in two mentally retarded girls with intractable seizures. *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, 2004, 24(5):393–395.
- 70. Eyaid WM et al. An inborn error of metabolism presenting as hypoxic-ischemic insult. *Pediatric Neurology*, 2005, 32(2):134–136.
- Duncan JS, Shorvon SD, Fish DR. The investigation of epilepsy. In: Duncan JS, Shorvon SD, Fish DR, eds. *Clinical epilepsy*. New York, Churchill Livingstone, 1995:103–174.
- 72. Essential health technologies. World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/eht/en/index. html, accessed 23 January 2010).
- Scheepers B, Clough P, Pickles C. The misdiagnosis of epilepsy: findings of a population study. *Seizure*, 1998, 7(5):403–406.
- 74. Chowdhury FA, Nashef L, Elwes RD. Misdiagnosis in epilepsy: a review and recognition of diagnostic uncertainty. *European Journal of Neurology*, 2008, 15(10):1034–1042.

- 75. Ferri C et al. Resource utilisation for neuropsychiatric disorders in developing countries: a multinational Delphi consensus study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 2004, 39(3):218–227.
- Tekle-Haimanot R, Forsgreen L, Ekstedt J. Incidence of epilepsy in rural central Ethiopia. *Epilepsia*, 1997, 38 (5):541–546.
- 77. Meinardi H et al., on behalf of the ILAE Commission on the Developing World. The treatment gap in epilepsy: the current situation and ways forward. *Epilepsia*, 2001, 42(1):136–149.
- Ellison RE et al. A program of transcultural studies of epilepsy: outline of study objectives and design. In: Manelis J et al., eds. Advances in epileptology, Vol. 17. New York, Raven Press, 1989:435–440.
- 79. Meinardi H et al. The treatment gap in epilepsy: the current situation and ways forward. *Epilepsia*, 2001,42(1):136–149.
- 80. Singh A, Kaur A. Epilepsy in rural Haryana: prevalence and treatment seeking behaviour. *Journal of the Indian Medical Association*, 1997, 95:37–39.
- 81. Danesi MA, Adetunji JB. Use of alternative medicine by patients with epilepsy: a survey of 265 epilepsy patients in a developing country. *Epilepsia*, 1994, 35:344–351.
- 82. Reis R. Evil in the body, disorder of the brain; interpretations of epilepsy and the treatment gap in Swaziland. *Tropical and Geographical Medicine*, 1994, 46:S40–S43.
- 83. Berg AT, Chadwick DW. Starting antiepileptic drugs. In: Schmidt D, Schachter SC, eds. *Epilepsy: problem solving in clinical practice*. London, Martin Dunitz, 2000:207–220.
- 84. Shinnar S, Berg AT. Progress in epilepsy research: does antiepileptic drug therapy prevent the development of chronic epilepsy? *Epilepsia*, 1996, 37(8):701–708.
- 85. Sridharan R et al. Epidemiological and clinical study of epilepsy in Benghazi, Libya. *Epilepsia*, 1986, 27(1):60–65.
- 86. Bassili A et al. Pattern of diagnostic and therapeutic care of childhood epilepsy in Alexandria, Egypt. Egyptian-Italian Collaborative Group on Paediatric Chronic Diseases. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 2002, 14(4):277–284.
- 87. Baldy-Moulinier M et al. Therapeutic strategies against epilepsy in Mediterranean countries: a report from an international collaborative survey. *Seizure*, 1998, 7(6):513–520.
- 88. Al-Zakwani I et al. Annual direct medical cost and contributing factors to total cost of epilepsy in Oman. *Seizure*, 2003, 12(8):555–560.

- 89. Nimaga K et al. Treatment with phenobarbital and monitoring of epileptic patients in rural Mali. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 2002, 80:7.
- 90. Exploratory study on the patterns of the use and misuse of prescription psychotropic substances in Cairo, Egypt. Cairo, Egyptian Ministry of Health and Population, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime Regional Office for the Middle East and North Africa, and WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, 2006.
- 91. Chandra V et al. Neurological disorders. In: *Disease control priorities related to mental, neurological, developmental and substance abuse disorders*. Geneva, WHO and Disease Control Priorities Project, 2006.
- 92. Fandino-Franky J, Silfvenius H. World-wide disparities in epilepsy care: a Latin American outlook. *Epilepsia*, 1999, 40(Suppl. 8):48–54.
- 93. Aydemir et al. Changes in quality of life and selfperspective related to surgery in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2004, 5(5):735–742.
- 94. Shuper A. Epilepsy in Israel 2008. *Harefuah*, 2008, 147(2):134–135, 182.
- 95. Shahar E et al. Pediatric-onset gelastic seizures: clinical data and outcome. *Pediatric Neurology*, 2007, 37(1):29–34.
- 96. Mikati MA et al. Effects of epilepsy surgery on quality of life: a controlled study in a Middle Eastern population. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2004, 5(1):72–80.
- 97. Wieser HG, Silfvenius H. Overview: epilepsy surgery in developing countries. *Epilepsia*, 2000, 41(Suppl. 4):S3–S9.
- 98. Ansari S, Chaudhri K, Al Moutaery KA.Vagus nerve stimulation: indications and limitations. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, 2007, 97(Pt 2):281–286.
- 99. Ozkara C et al. Surgical outcome of epilepsy patients evaluated with a noninvasive protocol. *Epilepsia*, 2000, 41(Suppl. 4):S41–S44.
- 100. Blume WT. The team approach to treating epilepsy: when do we need it? In: Schmidt D, Schachter SC, eds. *Epilepsy: problem solving in clinical practice*. London, Martin Dunitz, 2000:469–474.
- 101. Feksi AT et al. Comprehensive primary health care antiepileptic drug treatment programme in rural and semi-urban Kenya. *Lancet*, 1991, 337:406–409.
- 102. De Jong JT. A comprehensive public mental programme in Guinea-Bissau: a useful model for African, Asian, and Latin American countries. *Psychological Medicine*, 1996, 26:97–108.

- 103. Scott RA, Lhatoo SD, Sander JWAS. The treatment of epilepsy in developing countries: where do we go from here? *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 2001, 79(4):344–351.
- 104. Watts AE. A model for managing epilepsy in a rural community in Africa. *British Medical Journal*, 1989, 298:805–807.
- 105. Perez-Perez J, Sosa AM, Gonzalez-Casanova S. The knowledge, clinical control and attitudes of primary care physicians when dealing with epileptic patients: preliminary findings. *Revista de Neurología*, 2005, 40(7):385–393.
- 106. Levav I, Stephenson C, Theodore W. Epilepsy in Latin America and the Caribbean: a survey on needs and resources. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública*, 6(5):342–345.
- 107. Coleman R, Loppy L, Walraven G. The treatment gap and primary health care for people with epilepsy in rural Gambia. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 2002, 80(5):378–383.
- 108. Bassili A et al. Quality of care of children with chronic diseases in Alexandria, Egypt: the models of asthma, type I diabetes, epilepsy, and rheumatic heart disease. Egyptian-Italian Collaborative Group on Pediatric Chronic Diseases. *Pediatrics*, 2000, 106(1):E12.
- 109. Mental health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: reaching the unreached. Cairo, World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, 2006. WHO Regional Publications, Eastern Mediterranean Series 29.
- 110. Al-Adawi S et al. Psychosocial aspects of epilepsy in Oman: attitude of health personnel. *Epilepsia*, 2001, 42(11):1476–1481.
- 111. Beyenburg S et al. Anxiety in patients with epilepsy: systematic review and suggestions for clinical management. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2005, 7:161–171.
- 112. Hilty DM et al. An integrated neuropsychiatric approach to diagnosis and management of patients with epileptic seizures. *Current Treatment Options in Neurology*, 2005, 7(5):389–402.
- 113. Jones JE et al. Clinical assessment of Axis I psychiatric morbidity in chronic epilepsy: a multicenter investigation. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 2005, 17(2):172–179.
- 114. Schmitz B. Depression and mania in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2005, 46(Suppl. 4):45–49.
- 115. Okasha A, Kamel M, Hassan AH. Preliminary psychiatric observations in Egypt. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 1968, 114(513):949–955.

- 116. Hughes AP, Appleton RE. Epilepsy in a children's hospital: an out-patient survey. *Seizure*, 1995, 4(4):279–285.
- 117. Jan MM. Perception of pediatric neurology among non-neurologists. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 2004, 19(1):1–5.
- 118. Martinez Menendez B et al. The present state of paediatric neurology in the autonomous community of Madrid: variability in the distribution of resources. *Revista de Neurología*, 2004, 38(8):708–711.
- 119. Mohammadi MR et al. Prevalence of epilepsy and comorbidity of psychiatric disorders in Iran. *Seizure*, 2006, 15(7):476–482.
- 120. Shafiq M et al. Epilepsy: public knowledge and attitude in a slum area of Karachi, Pakistan. *Seizure*, 2007, 16(4):330–337.
- 121. Baker GA et al. The stigma of epilepsy: a European perspective. *Epilepsia*, 2000, 41:98–104.
- 122. Baker GA et al. Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Iran, the Gulf, and Near East. SIGN Group. *Epilepsia*, 2005, 46(1):132–140.
- 123. el-Hilu SM. Social aspects of epilepsy in Kuwait. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 1990, 36(1):68–73.
- 124. Al-Saad SK, al-Khayat JQ, al-Nooman NN. Frequency of unemployment among epileptic patients in Tikrit, Iraq. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 2001, 7(3):531–535.
- 125. Mrabet H et al. Health-related quality of life of people with epilepsy compared with a general reference population: a Tunisian study. *Epilepsia*, 2004, 45(7):838–843.

- 126. Masoudnia E. Awareness, understanding and attitudes towards epilepsy among Iranian ethnic groups. *Seizure*, 2009, 18(5):369–373.
- 127. Hirfanoglu T et al. Do knowledge of, perception of, and attitudes toward epilepsy affect the quality of life of Turkish children with epilepsy and their parents? *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2009, 14(1):71–77.
- 128. Demirci S et al. Public awareness of, attitudes toward, and understanding of epilepsy in Isparta, Turkey. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2007, 11(3):427–433.
- 129. Al-Rashed H et al. Knowledge of, perceptions of, and attitudes toward epilepsy among university students in Kuwait. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, 2009, 14(2):367–371.
- 130. Awad A, Sarkhoo F. Public knowledge and attitudes toward epilepsy in Kuwait. *Epilepsia*, 2008, 49(4):564–572.
- 131. Saleh AM et al. Comparison of maternal and fetal outcomes in epileptic and non-epileptic women. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 2008, 29(2):261–266.
- 132. Dekker PA. *Epilepsy: a manual for medical and clinical officers in Kenya*. Leiden, Epicadec, 1998.
- 133. Obeid T. Stigma: an aspect of epilepsy not to be ignored. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 2008, 29(4):489–497.
- 134. Leonardi M, Ustun TB. The global burden of epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 2002, 43(Suppl. 6):21–25.

EPILEPSY, a common neurological disorder, is a target of enduring myths which have shaped social and cultural attitudes and practices. Such myths continue to survive, and contribute in no small measure to the stigma and discrimination faced by people affected by epilepsy and their families. This, in turn, feeds into a vicious circle, where affected individuals and their families do not access treatment, even if it is available. Epilepsy affects an estimated 4.7 million people in the Eastern Mediterranean Region. Despite the fact that low-cost treatments are available, up to 98% of individuals in some countries are not able to benefit. This report brings together, for the first time, all the available evidence on epidemiology, etiology and management available from the Region and suggests the directions that need to be pursued to bridge the gap between the resources needed and those available, in order to make treatment of epilepsy accessible and affordable to the community. The report is the result of collaborative efforts between WHO, ILEA and IBE and will be of interest not only to health professionals but also to the public.



